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The main building for the Nebraska Wesleyan University campus was built in 
1857-1888. It was designed by architects Gibbs and Parker of Kansas City and 
erected at a cost of $70^ 000.

"Old Main" is a three-story, Richardsonian Romanesque building of brick 
and stone with a limes tone ̂ foundation, it is 150' by 71' in dimension with a 
70 1 by 32' addition on the back. The exterior wal Is are made of pressed brick 
trimmed with red stone. Heavy rounded arches cover a number of windows and a 
massive arch spans the main entrance. Originally, a clock tower adorned the 
roof-reaching about 30 feet above the cornice, but this was removed in the 
194(5 s * as it was considered a safety hazard. The slate roof is crowned with 
^r-es^wtgs of galvanized iron, the side doors are protected by porches of heavy 
arched masonry. Above these porches are horizontal panels which bore inscrfp- 
tions, "Let there be light" beneath the south gable and the wording, "And there 
was light" under the north gable. These inscriptions have been obliterated by 
weathering thrquitr the years. Courses of red stone and ornamental brickwork, 
some in a gasket weave design, run around the ehti re structure .On all si des , 
the; arched upper portions of thie windows are divided into small squares and 
glazM with heavy cathedraV stained glass,

The building; has a full basement* which originally housed the chemistry 
and^TnechaMcal^ep^mejte atid th^ir5 work a-reas. On the first floor one found 
the physics, mathematics, and art departments. Also located on this; level were 
a retfeptibh roofa Efnd; dffl'ce' of 'tfve1 president. The wide' 'stalrw-ay Trailing to the 
floors above is centrally located opposite the main entrance and rises up the 
east 'wal V of : tHe^ structure. At the first landing is a bWutiTul art glass window, 
a copy of the Holman-Hunt painting» "Light of the World. " The second floor 
originally housed the library in the north wing, with the large space over the 
main entrance occupied -by the museum. Classrooms for various subjects covered 
the remainder of the floor space. A chapel large enough to accommodate one 
thousand people was located on the entire ̂ south end of the third floor* The 
space above the museum served as a society room with the remaining space on the 
niorth devoted to mus|prooms.? The hallways oh all floors are wide and were lined 
with a basket weave patterned wains cotting.

The rear addition added tn 1902 was originally built as/a one-story gym­ 
nasium with a basement fo^ It is a 
simple red brick structure with a stone foundation. A second story was addecli 
to the addition during World War L

The present exterior appearance of "Old Main" is not far removed froip the 
origi nal ;., : In the 1 ate 1940 's a remodel ing pro ject was undertaken . At thi s 
ti me the spi res were1 removed from the roof and a 1 ou vered structure repl aced 
the tower above the entrance.
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The first floor interior has been altered considerably with new woodwork 
and a false ceiling in place of the original woodwork and high ceilings. The 
wainscotting has been removed on this floor. The upper floors remain much as 
they were before the turn of the century. The heavy woodwork is in good con­ 
dition. A theatre workshop is now occupying the addition.

There is some deterioration in the building due to water leakage through 
the roof and gutter leaks, resulting in damage to the inside walls and window 
casing. In 1974 the east half of the building received a temporary roof to 
help alleviate the problem.

"Old Main" has been in continuous use since its erection. It served as 
the administrative center of the University until a few months ago when these 
offices were moved into a new building. Nebraska Wesleyan is planning to 
restore the structure, and at this time ideas for future use are being dis­ 
cussed. In the meantime, classes are being held in the building as usual.
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In December of 1886 a commission made up of representatives of the Methodist 
conferences in the state met at St. Paul's Methodist Church in Lincoln, Nebraska, 
to discuss the problems of the three Methodist colleges in the state. They were 
all in financial difficulty, and the commission thought it best to consolidate 
interests and build one central educational institution which would serve the 
entire state. Lincoln was voted as the place to locate the campus, and a 45 acre 
parcel of land, the Baldwin-Pitcher tract three miles northeast of Lincoln, was 
obtained.

Plans began at once for the erection of a main college building and by May 
3, 1887, the design, done by Kansas City architects Gibbs and Parker, was in the 
hands of the trustees. Originally, the building cost was to be kept at $50,000; 
however, the proposed plan required an 3d4ijt'jpnajc $20^$) tp; be ̂ pfitit^ r,Jhis extra 
money was raised by the selling of lots around the main campus area. Hence the 
village University, Wace, now a Lincoln siibiirbic sprarrg up< araundv ther college. By 
1888 there were enough homes in the little town to board the women students. The 
men stayed for-a time- in an improvised dormitory in the col-lege-building until 
other housing was available.

The cornerstone of "Old Main," as this original college building came to be 
called, was laid on September 22, 1887. The day was proclaimed Nebraska Wesleyan 
Day. A procession of one thousand people walked to the southwest corner of the 
building to take part in the festivities.

In September of 1888 the doors Were opened to the students. After an inspec­ 
tion tour of the building, some of it by way of ladders, the students registered 
for their classes. Three parallel curricula were offered: classical, scientific, 
and philosophical. It was possible to earn three baccalaureate degrees: Bachelor 
of Arts, Bachelor of Science, and Bachelor of Philosophy. Fifty students enrolled 
that first year. The earliest few weeks of classes were held amidst the confusion 
caused by the continuation of work on the building. Students and faculty alike 
were most anxious for the completion of the stairway to the third floor chapel. 
Finally, on October 24, 1888, with access to the chapel possible, a service was 
held for inauguration of the first chancellor and consecration of the new univer­ 
sity.
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By 1900, "Old Main" was the visual center of University Place, with its 
two stone arches over the front walks leading to the building and the newly 
planted trees surrounding it. The bell, which was located in a partially con­ 
cealed frame on the roof, announced the time of day in-early years, and later 
served as the "victory bell" after Wesleyan became involved in college sports.

Architecturally, "Old Main" is one of the last remaining examples of the 
Richardsonian Romanesque style of institutional buildings in the area. An 
interesting detail is the patterned brickwork, which accents the designs in the 
upper portions of the windows and provides continuity from the exterior to the 
basket weave patterned wainscotting in the interior. As the last remaining 
original college campus building in Lincoln, the structure holds significance 
for the entire city.

"Old Main" has become a landmark on the Nebraska Wesleyan Campus. It stands 
proudly in the center of several new, modern buildings, which have gradually over­ 
taken the campus. The present student body can use this building as a link to 
the earliest days of Nebraska Wesleyan University, and because "Old Main" has been 
in constant use since 1888, a feeling of continuity and permanence is apparent on 
campus. Past and present come together in the halls of "Old Main."


